
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

 EASTERN DIVISION 

 

NATIVE AMERICAN ARTS, INC.,  

Plaintiff,   

Case No. 08-cv-03908 

v.  

Magistrate Judge Jeffrey Cole 

PETER STONE CO., U.S.A., INC.,  

    Defendant. 

 

RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SANCTIONS 

 

“[W]e wish to make clear that sanctions are not automatically warranted where a party loses a 

dispositive motion.” Walter v. Fiorenzo, 840 F.2d 427, 436 (7th Cir. 1988) 

 

“It is important ... to resist the understandable temptation to engage in post hoc reasoning by 

concluding that, because plaintiff did not ultimately prevail, his action must have been 

unreasonable or without foundation. This kind of hindsight logic could discourage all but the 

most airtight claims, for seldom can a prospective plaintiff be sure of ultimate success.” 

Christiansburg Garment Co., v. EEOC, 434 U.S. 412, 421–22 (1978) 

 

“[A]ggressively advancing a reasonable legal theory that ultimately fails is not grounds for the 

imposition of sanctions.” HK Sys., Inc. v. Eaton Corp., No. 02-C-1103, 2009 WL 742676, at *2 

(E.D. Wis. Mar. 18, 2009) aff'd, 353 F. App'x 44 (7th Cir. 2009) 

 

Native American Arts, Inc. (“NAA”) filed suit against Peter Stone Co. U.S.A., Inc. (“Peter 

Stone”), for violation of the Indian Arts and Crafts Act (“Act”). Five years into the suit, Peter 

Lubin1 took over as NAA’s counsel after NAA’s original counsel passed away. NAA ultimately 

did not prevail in its suit but that is neither sanctionable nor evidence of the egregious conduct 

required to warrant imposing sanctions on NAA or its replacement counsel.  

NAA’s lawsuit was far from frivolous or a conscious disregard for the law. To the contrary, 

NAA sought and received congressional approval to bring this very type of lawsuit. NAA, through 

its original counsel, testified before Congress that it should be given “the key to the courthouse” 

                                                           
1 A total of seven attorneys from the firms of DiTommaso-Lubin, P.C., of which Mr. Lubin is a partner, and Touhy, 

Touhy & Buehler, LLP filed appearances on behalf of NAA; Peter Stone seeks sanctions only against Mr. Lubin. 
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to redress the harm done to the reputation and value of authentic Indian products, like those NAA 

sells, by counterfeit Indian products, like those NAA alleged Peter Stone sells. Ex. 1 (Mullens 

Decl.), ¶¶14, 23, 72. The Act’s legislative history establishes that Congress amended the Act for 

the express purpose of giving NAA the right to do just that. See Dkt. 323, 11 n.7 (discussing Act’s 

legislative history). This Court concluded that, regardless of what Congress intended to NAA to 

be able to do, NAA lacked Article III standing to do it. It does not follow though that bringing or 

litigating the case was sanctionable. 

The issue of Congress’s ability to remove requirements of Article III standing by statute 

was being litigated in Spokeo at the same time summary judgment was being briefed in this case. 

And as this Court recognized in its summary judgment opinion, there is a dearth of case law 

interpreting the Act. Id. at 11 n.6. Indeed, NAA has been virtually the only plaintiff who has sought 

to enforce the Act and define its contours and boundaries. Advancing novel arguments or theories 

particularly in cases involving an untested statute is hardly egregious and contumacious conduct 

deserving of sanctions. See, e.g., Barrett v. Fonorow, 799 N.E.2d 916, 928-29 (Ill.App. 2003) 

(affirming denial of sanctions because “the case law construing section 230, which was passed 

only seven years ago, has not yet yielded an established interpretation” and “an evolving area of 

the law . . . [is] not an area where it's appropriate for a court to be sanctioning people [who] test 

the waters.’”). Courts at all levels have consistently reiterated that sanctions are to be reserved for 

culpable behavior and not simply for advancing an unsuccessful claim or theory. Without novel 

claims or theories, the law would never evolve. 

PETER STONE FAILS TO COMPLY WITH RULE 11 AND § 1927 BY 

IDENTIFYING SPECIFIC EXCESS COSTS CAUSED BY SPECIFIC CONDUCT 

   

Peter Stone makes no attempt to separate NAA’s supposedly sanctionable conduct from 

Mr. Lubin’s supposedly sanctionable conduct or identify the specific costs incurred by such 
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conduct. Instead, it simply argues that the cumulative result of the conduct should be an award of 

Peter Stone’s entire attorney’s fees and costs in the entire case. The Seventh Circuit has plainly 

rejected such an approach. Pac. Dunlop Holdings, Inc. v. Barosh, 22 F.3d 113, 120 (7th Cir. 1994) 

(reversing an award of “all of the costs and fees” because § 1927 is limited to “excess costs, 

expenses, and attorneys' fees . . . that otherwise would not have [been] incurred” but for the 

sanctionable conduct (emphasis in original)); see also Peterson v. BMI Refractories, 124 F.3d 

1386, 1397 (11th Cir. 1997) (recognizing that § 1927 requires “a causal connection between the 

objectionable conduct of counsel and multiplication of the proceedings.”).  

Peter Stone appears to argue that NAA should be sanctioned for: 

 Filing and continuing the lawsuit because NAA had no standing;  

 

 Alleging that Wendy Whiteman was not a Native American; 

 

 Making frivolous statutory and competitive injury damages claims;  

 

 Amending its Rule 26(a) disclosures to increase its claim for statutory damages; and  

 

 Naming and later withdrawing two expert witnesses. 

    

Peter Stone appears to argue that Mr. Lubin should be sanctioned for: 

 Refusing to dismiss the suit after Peter Stone’s counsel informed Mr. Lubin that NAA 

lacked standing per the holding in NAA v. Indio; 

 

 Amending NAA’s Rule 26(a) disclosures to increase the statutory damages claimed;  

 

 Allegedly disparaging Wendy Whiteman; and  

 

 Withdrawing the two previously mentioned expert witnesses.2 

 

                                                           
2 Peter Stone raises additional issues such as reopening and taking discovery and NAA’s filing motions for sanctions 

but does not develop these arguments. Nonetheless it was not sanctionable for Mr. Lubin, who as stated worked with 

a team of attorneys, to reopen or take additional discovery as such actions were expressly approved by the Court. The 

Seventh Circuit has expressed doubt that actions taken with even a “district court’s implicit approval” could 

“constitute[] ordinary negligence” much less the recklessness required for sanctions. Pac. Dunlop, 22 F.3d at 120. In 

this case, NAA’s counsel acted with much more than just implicit approval; it had the Court’s express approval.  
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LEGAL STANDARD 

Rule 11 sanctions are available against a party or attorney who signs, files, submits, or later 

advocates a specific pleading, motion, or other paper to the court (a) for an “improper purpose” or 

(b) without a reasonable basis in fact or law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b). The Seventh Circuit has 

repeatedly cautioned: 

Rule 11 . . . is a tool that must be used with utmost care and caution . . . 

[A] Rule 11 violation carries intangible costs for the punished lawyer or 

firm. A lawyer's reputation for integrity, thoroughness and competence 

is his or her bread and butter. We may not impugn the reputation without 

carefully analyzing the legal and factual sufficiency of the arguments. 

Harlyn Sales Corp. Profit Sharing Plan v. Kemper Fin. Servs., Inc., 9 

F.3d 1263, 1269 (7th Cir. 1993) (quoting FDIC v. Tekfen Const. & Inst. 

Co., 847 F.2d 440, 444 (7th Cir. 1988)) 

 

Rule 11 sanctions “are to be imposed sparingly, as they can have significant impact beyond 

the merits of the individual case and can affect the reputation and creativity of counsel.” Hartmarx 

Corp. v. Abboud, 326 F.3d 862, 867 (7th Cir. 2003) (internal quotations omitted). They should be 

reserved for “egregious or abusive behavior. . .” Lundeen v. Minemyer, No. 09 C 3820, 2010 WL 

5418896, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 17, 2010). The party seeking sanctions “carries a high burden of 

showing that Rule 11 sanctions are warranted.” Id.  

Sanctions under Section 1927 are “an extreme sanction” and are available only when an 

attorney’s actions multiply the proceedings in a case unreasonably and vexatiously. Marco 

Holding Co. v. Lear Siegler, Inc., 606 F. Supp. 204, 212 (N.D. Ill. 1985). Section 1927 is penal in 

nature and is strictly construed. Id. Sanctions should only be awarded “in response to a ‘serious 

and studied disregard for the orderly process of justice.’” Id. (quoting Badillo v. Cent. Steel & Wire 

Co., 717 F.2d 1160, 1166 (7th Cir. 1983)). Section 1927 requires an express finding of bad faith. 

Id. “Liability under § 1927 is direct, not vicarious” meaning the specific attorney against whom 

sanctions are sought must have acted in bad faith. FM Indus., Inc. v. Citicorp Credit Servs., Inc., 
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614 F.3d 335, 340-41 (7th Cir. 2010). Something “more than a showing of ordinary negligence is 

necessary to support an award of sanctions under § 1927[.]” Grochocinski v. Mayer Brown Rowe 

& Maw LLP, 452 B.R. 676, 685 (N.D. Ill. 2011), aff'd, 719 F.3d 785 (7th Cir. 2013). Subjective 

bad faith is required “if the conduct under consideration had an objectively colorable basis.” Id. 

(quoting Dal Pozzo v. Basic Mach. Co., 463 F.3d 609, 614 (7th Cir. 2006)). Even without an 

objectively colorable basis, objective bad faith is still required. Id.  

Sanctions under Section 1927 are limited to “the excess costs, expenses, and attorneys' fees 

incurred” because of an attorney’s bad faith conduct, or in other words, “‘expenses and fees that 

otherwise would not have [been] incurred[.]’”. Pac. Dunlop, 22 F.3d at 120 (quoting legislative 

history of 1980 amendment to 28 U.S.C. § 1927) (emphasis in original).  

NAA HAD A GOOD FAITH BASIS TO ARGUE IT HAD ARTICLE III STANDING 

Peter Stone argues that sanctions are warranted because its counsel notified NAA’s counsel 

just prior to summary judgment briefing that NAA had no standing based on the holding of another 

case, NAA v. Indio. Peter Stone made the same argument—that Indio precluded NAA from 

establishing standing—during summary judgment. The Court rejected the argument.3 Dkt. 323 at 

11-13. Refusing to dismiss the case after defense counsel “informed” NAA that it had no case is 

not sanctionable—particularly when the reason given was rejected by this Court.  

Peter Stone also argues NAA’s assertion that it had Article III standing was frivolous. Peter 

Stone relies extensively on the Court’s summary judgment opinion as proof that NAA’s position 

was frivolous. The Supreme Court in Christiansburg, however, warned against engaging in this 

very type of “post hoc reasoning[.]” 434 U.S. at 421–22.  

Peter Stone argues that NAA failed to establish a concrete injury caused by Peter Stone’s 

                                                           
3 Because the Court rejected the only basis given by Peter Stone’s counsel in his pre-filing notice, Peter Stone has not 

satisfied its notice obligations under Rule 11 and requires refusal of Peter Stone’s request for Rule 11 sanctions. 
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actions by not presenting evidence of lost sales, lowered prices, or increased advertising directly 

attributable to Peter Stone’s actions. The problem with Peter Stone’s argument, besides the fact 

that it confuses injury-in-fact with damages (as evidenced by its quoting from the damages section 

of NAA’s Rule 26(a) disclosure), is that NAA did not argue standing based on specific lost sales, 

lowered prices, or increased advertising attributable to Peter Stone. In fact, NAA testified before 

Congress that proving these things would be nearly impossible. Ex. 1, ¶24. The Senate Report 

reflects this testimony by recognizing that “lost or diminished sales attributable to the complained 

behavior, are difficult or impossible to prove.” S. REP. 106-452, 4. 

NAA argued on summary judgment that it had Article III standing based on two things: (1) 

a violation of a statutory right created by the Act; and (2) an intangible injury to the reputation of 

authentic Indian goods similar to that suffered by trademark holders. Ex. 2 (Lubin Decl.), ¶2. NAA 

testified before Congress that counterfeit Indian goods hurt the reputation and value of the 

authentic Indian goods that Indians and Indian Arts and Crafts Organizations (“Organizations”), 

like NAA, sell. Ex. 1, ¶16. NAA asked Congress to give it standing to sue counterfeiters to protect 

the reputation of authentic Indian goods. In 2000, Congress did just that by enacting an amendment 

to the Act proposed by NAA. Id. at ¶23-24. 

NAA argued that the Act created a statutory right and provided Indians and Organizations 

with a private cause of action to prosecute violations of that right. By amending the Act in 2000, 

Congress intended Organizations, like NAA, to have Article III standing to prosecute these 

violations simply by establishing a violation of the Act. Congress intended for causality and 

redressability in essence to be presumed by expressly finding that counterfeiting violated this 

statutory right and providing for statutory damages. 

It cannot be said that NAA’s argument was frivolous because Congress’s ability to alter 
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the requirements of Article III standing by statute was the precise issue that was being litigated in 

Spokeo during briefing of summary judgment in this case. Only months before NAA briefed the 

issue of standing, the Ninth Circuit in Spokeo had decided that Congress could remove certain 

requirements of Article III standing by statute to confer standing on plaintiffs.  

The Ninth Circuit described “the standing inquiry as boiling down to essentially the injury-

in-fact prong” in cases involving a violation of statutory rights and devoted a mere paragraph to 

the other two prongs: causality and redressability. Robins v. Spokeo, Inc., 742 F.3d 409, 414 (9th 

Cir. 2014), vacated and remanded, 136 S. Ct. 1540 (2016) (internal quotations omitted). Causality, 

the court explained, is essentially presumed as “there is little doubt that a defendant’s alleged 

violation of a statutory provision ‘caused’ the violation of a right created by [statute].” Id. And 

statutory damages satisfy redressability. Id. The Ninth Circuit’s opinion represented the law at the 

time NAA briefed the issue of standing in this case. 

NAA also argued that it had the right to sue for harm to the reputation of authentic Indian 

goods much the way holders of a trademark have standing to sue to protect the reputation of their 

marks. Ex. 2, ¶6. The Act in effect grants a trademark to Indians and Organizations in the 

designation of authentic Indian-made goods as “Indian goods.” A universally accepted principle 

in trademark law is that counterfeit goods harm a mark’s reputation. Camel Hair & Cashmere Inst. 

of Am., Inc. v. Associated Dry Goods (“Cashmere”), 799 F.2d 6, 15 (1st Cir. 1986) 

(“The reputation of cashmere is put at stake as long as these [counterfeit] coats are on the market 

and . . . a lasting but not readily measurable injury can be inflicted on a product's reputation by the 

circulation of counterfeit and, in this case, inferior products.”). Selling counterfeit Indian goods 

harms the reputation of the Indian goods mark. Thus, NAA argued, holders of the Indian goods 

mark, Indians and Organizations like NAA, have standing to sue to redress that harm.  
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NAA cited the Cashmere case in support of its argument which held that individuals with 

an interest in protecting “cashmere’s reputation as a high quality fibre” had standing to sue 

defendants selling counterfeit cashmere coats. 799 F.2d at 11-12. Standing in that case was not 

contingent on tying a specific amount of harm attributable to each defendant. Rather, standing 

existed because selling counterfeit goods harmed the reputation of the authentic goods at issue and 

plaintiff established an interest in protecting that reputation. Although the court did not 

differentiate between Article III and statutory standing, the fact that it permitted the claim implies 

that it found both types of standing existed. TrafficSchool.com, Inc. v. Edriver Inc., 653 F.3d 820, 

825 (9th Cir. 2011) (Article III standing is required for subject matter jurisdiction).  

 Peter Stone’s argument that NAA presented no evidence of lost sales or increased 

advertisement costs (i.e. quantifying actual damages proximately caused by Stone’s conduct) 

misses the mark. Article III standing does not require quantifying the actual damages proximately 

caused by a defendant. Lexmark Int'l, Inc. v. Static Control Components, Inc., 134 S.Ct. 1377, 

1391 (2014) (“Proximate causation is not a requirement of Article III standing . . .”). All it requires 

is establishing an injury “fairly traceable to the defendant’s conduct.” Id.  

Judge Shadur pithy observation in NAA v. Bundy-Howard, Inc., 168 F. Supp. 2d 905, 914 

(N.D. Ill. 2001), that “there is no effective way to measure the loss of sales or potential growth—

to ascertain the people who don’t knock on the door or to identify the specific persons who do not 

reorder because of the existence of the infringer” succinctly sums up why standing should not be 

tied to the ability to quantify lost sales caused by a specific infringer. NAA did not present or 

attempt to present evidence of lost sales attributable to Peter Stone’s counterfeiting because it did 

not need to. It argued that, as a holder of the Indian goods mark, it had standing based on harm to 
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the Indian goods mark caused by Peter Stone’s counterfeiting.4  

Even though the Court ultimately rejected NAA’s argument that it had Article III standing, 

the argument was not frivolous. See, e.g., Bodum USA, Inc. v. La Cafetiere, Inc., 2009 WL 

1702808 (N.D. Ill. June 17, 2009) (rejecting argument that lawsuit was frivolous even though 

plaintiff lost on summary judgment). Peter Stone has not cited a single case sanctioning a party for 

losing an argument that it had Article III standing. NAA’s position had a reasonable basis in fact 

and law. Moreover, there is no evidence whatsoever that Mr. Lubin acted with subjective bad 

faith—as is required because the position has an objectively colorable basis—in asserting that 

NAA had Article III standing. At all times, he consulted with a team of attorneys and the arguments 

advanced were well-vetted and researched. Thus, the Court should reject Peter Stone’s argument 

that arguing that NAA had Article III standing was sanctionable.   

NAA HAD A GOOD FAITH BASIS FOR ALLEGING THAT WENDY WHITEMAN DID 

NOT MEET THE ACT’S DEFINITION OF INDIAN 

 

 Peter Stone argues that NAA should be sanctioned for failing to investigate whether Wendy 

Whiteman, the designer of the Wolfwalker Collection, was a Native American. Peter Stone does 

not cite to any evidence that NAA failed to make a reasonable investigation or describe what a 

reasonable investigation of the allegation would entail (and what information such an investigation 

would have yielded). In essence, Peter Stone argues that because it contends that Ms. Whiteman 

is a Native American, NAA must have acted sanctionably by alleging that she was not an Indian 

                                                           
4 Peter Stone also argues that NAA’s position is frivolous because it would result in more than 5 million plaintiffs and 

$70 trillion in damages. This, however, is not correct. For instance, a copyright or trademark can have multiple owners, 

yet a defendant is only liable once for its infringement. If one owner recovers, a defendant does not face additional 

liability from the other owners for the same infringement. Edgenet, Inc. v. GS1 AIBSL, 2010 WL 55843, at *5 (E.D. 

Wis. Jan. 5, 2010) (“In a case where infringement damages are awarded to only one of two co-owners of a copyright, 

redress is properly sought through a suit between the co-owners and not through further litigation against the 

defendant.”); Copyright.net Music Pub. LLC v. MP3.com, 256 F.Supp.2d 214, 218 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (“But if, as 

defendant argued, it might be obligated to pay 100% of statutory damages to plaintiffs, and the money was not divided 

among co-owners of the compositions, then the proper suit would be between these co-owners, not the co-owners 

against defendant.”). Likewise, a defendant found liable for violating the Act would pay damages once.  
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as defined by the Act. Peter Stone is wrong. 

NAA’s liability theory at the time of filing its complaint was that Peter Stone violated the 

Act by falsely claiming the Wolfwalker Collection jewelry were “Indian products” (i.e. products 

made by Indians) when in fact they were made in Thailand. NAA investigated this claim by visiting 

Peter Stone’s website and ordering items from the Wolfwalker Collection. Ex. 1, ¶¶51-63. Based 

on Ms. Whiteman’s May 2010 deposition testimony, NAA asserted another theory that Peter Stone 

also violated the Act by falsely claiming that the Wolfwalker Collection was Indian designed 

because Ms. Whiteman was not an Indian as defined by the Act.5  

Peter Stone’s argument that Ms. Whiteman is a Native American is deceptively misguided. 

The issue is whether she is an Indian as defined by the Act, not whether she is Native American. 

One can be Native American yet not an Indian under the Act. 

The Act defines “Indian” as a “member of an Indian tribe” or an individual “certified as an 

Indian artisan by an Indian tribe.” 25 U.S.C. § 305e(1). At her deposition, Ms. Whiteman testified 

that she was not an enrolled member of any recognized Indian tribe, had no knowledge of lineal 

descent from any specific tribe, had never told anyone she was a Native American, and had no 

formal artisan education but rather only informal lapidary training from two Navajo (i.e. had not 

been certified as an Indian artisan by an Indian tribe). Ex. 4, 9:12-10:3, 15:1-12, 18:19-24. The 

only evidence she offered that she was in fact an Indian was that her “spiritual roots are Native 

American” and that her parents had told her that she “had Native American blood.” Id. at 12:21-

25, 18:19-24. She admitted, however, that neither she nor her family knew what Indian tribe that 

blood came from. And when describing herself online, she identified herself not as Native 

American but as a “Caucasian woman.” Ex. 1, ¶19. 

                                                           
5 See Dkt. 298, 1 for an explanation of NAA’s liability theories. 
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From this, NAA argued that Ms. Whiteman did not meet the Act’s definition of an Indian. 

As the Court pointed out, Ms. Whiteman’s testimony did not prove conclusively that she was not 

an Indian. It did, however, provide a good faith basis for arguing to a jury that she did not meet 

the statutory definition. That is all Rule 11 requires. Bodum, 2009 WL 1702808.  

Generally, proving blood quantum or tracing lineal descent to a specific tribe is a 

prerequisite for membership in an Indian tribe. See Paul Spruhan, A Legal History of Blood 

Quantum in Federal Indian Law to 1935, 51 S.D. L. Rev. 1, 1 (2006) (“Both for federal recognition 

as an ‘Indian’ and for membership in a tribal nation, a person generally must possess a threshold 

amount of Indian or tribal ‘blood,’ expressed as one-half, one-quarter, or some other fractional 

amount.”); see also Brendan Koerner, Slate, How Do You Join an Indian Tribe?, 

http://bit.do/slate_article (Feb. 24, 2004) (“A full rundown of tribal membership arcana would fill 

several volumes . . . [i]n general, however, tribes use either the blood quantum system or the 

descent system.”). Ms. Whiteman admitted that she had done neither. And having spiritual roots 

alone does not make her an Indian under the Act. Cf. 61 Fed. Reg. 204, 54553 (Oct. 21, 1996) 

(explaining that “adopt[ion] by Indian spiritual leaders” would not make one an Indian under the 

Act). One can also infer that she is not an Indian by the fact that she never held herself out as 

Native American nor was an enrolled member of an Indian tribe. As the Court acknowledged, 

Tribal enrollment is a common means of establishing Indian status. It is also required for 

membership in many tribes. See In re Arianna R.G., 2003 WI 11, ¶ 17. A lack of enrollment limits 

the number of recognized tribes she could be a member of and raises the probability that she is not 

an Indian under the Act. Peter Stone clearly did not think the argument to be patently frivolous as 

it changed all of its advertisements regarding the Wolfwalker Collection to remove any reference 

to being Native American jewelry or Ms. Whiteman being a Native American after reviewing the 
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Act and speaking with Ms. Whiteman. See Dkt. 277, 2; Dkt. 278, ¶¶80-81. 

Peter Stone’s final argument concerning Ms. Whiteman is that Mr. Lubin disparaged her. 

Peter Stone does not articulate how, even assuming it were true, Mr. Lubin’s description of Ms. 

Whiteman violates either Rule 11 or Section 1927. That point aside, Peter Stone’s allegations are 

not true. Mr. Lubin did not disparage Ms. Whiteman. The description of Ms. Whiteman that Peter 

Stone characterizes as “disgusting” and “disparaging” is actually Ms. Whiteman’s own description 

of herself from a book she authored. Ex. 2, ¶18. It can hardly be disgusting or disparaging—much 

less sanctionable—to use Ms. Whiteman’s own description of herself.     

NAA’S DAMAGES WERE EXPRESSLY AUTHORIZED BY THE ACT 

NAA’s claim for statutory and competitive injury damages were not frivolous. Statutory 

damages were calculated as $1,000 per infringing product per day as provided by 25 U.S.C. § 

305e(b)(2)(B). Ex. 2, ¶26; Dkt. 279, 8. NAA’s competitive injury damages consisted of 

disgorgement of Peter Stone’s profits from selling the Wolfwalker Collection jewelry trebled as 

provided by 25 U.S.C. § 305e(b)(2)(A). Ex. 1, ¶7-9 (explaining how competitive injury damages 

were calculated). Both types of damages were expressly provided for by the statute and thus, not 

claimed in bad faith for any improper motive. Ex. 2, ¶26; Ex. 3, ¶26.  

Peter Stone’s argument that NAA’s damages claims were frivolous relies on two incorrect 

assertions. First, Peter Stone incorrectly asserts that NAA alleged $5,000 in lost sales. Second, it 

incorrectly asserts that NAA had no basis for alleging $5,000 in damages. NAA’s Rule 26(a) 

disclosures make clear that the $5,000 of damages is an estimate of NAA’s competitive injury 

damages such as Peter Stone’s gross profits from the Wolfwalker Collection. Ex. 1, ¶7; Ex. 2, ¶26. 

The Act expressly provides that “damages” include “any and all gross profits accrued by the 

defendant as a result of the activities found to violate this subsection.” 25 U.S.C. § 305e(b). The 
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basis for estimating gross profits of at least $5,000 came from Matthew Mullens’s experience in 

the industry and from Peter Stone’s records. Ex. 1, ¶¶8-9. 

Although NAA acknowledged that it suffered the type of damages that naturally flow from 

counterfeiting such as lost sales, it made no attempt to quantify the amount of those damages 

attributable to Peter Stone. Ex. 2, ¶6. As stated, NAA was seeking statutory damages. It also listed 

treble Peter Stone’s gross profits as actual damages in its disclosures. NAA was permitted to 

seeking both types of remedies and elect to seek only statutory damages later.  

Peter Stone makes much hay of Mr. Mullens’s inability to quantify lost sales caused by 

Peter Stone at his deposition. It cites this as evidence that NAA’s damages claim was frivolous. 

Mr. Mullens’s testimony does not support Peter Stone’s argument, however. Mr. Mullens could 

not quantify lost sales specifically attributable to Peter Stone because NAA had no need to do so.  

Peter Stone also claims that making a settlement demand of $6,000,000 and claiming that 

NAA’s damages were $36,108,000 violated Rule 11. There are two problems with this argument. 

First, Rule 11 applies only to papers presented to the court. Christian v. Mattel, Inc., 286 F.3d 

1118, 1131 (9th Cir. 2002) (“Rule 11 sanctions are limited to ‘paper[s]’ signed in violation of the 

rule. Conduct in depositions, discovery meetings of counsel, oral representations at hearings, and 

behavior in prior proceedings do not fall within the ambit of Rule 11.”). Second, the amount of 

statutory damages claimed had a basis: the formula set out in 25 U.S.C. § 305e(b)(2)(B). Although 

Peter Stone accuses NAA and Mr. Lubin of filing or maintaining the lawsuit for the sole purpose 

of extorting a settlement, the record easily belies the baseless accusation. Far from making a 

settlement demand then folding if no quick settlement is reached, NAA and its attorneys, including 

Mr. Lubin, devoted substantial time and resources to discovery, motion practice, and trial 

preparation. See, e.g., AF Holdings, LLC v. Does 1-1058, 752 F.3d 990, 992–93 (D.C. Cir. 2014) 
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(describing the abusive tactics of porn copyright trolls Prenda Law which would make settlement 

demands but “would simply dismiss the case” if a “defendant sought to actually litigate”).  

In short, Peter Stone presents no evidence that NAA or its attorneys made frivolous 

damages claims or acted in bad faith because no evidence exists. Ex. 1, ¶25; Ex. 2, ¶24; Ex. 3, ¶24. 

The Act expressly provides for both types of damages NAA claimed. Without evidence of bad 

faith, an improper motive, or fees incurred as a result of NAA’s damages claims “that otherwise 

would not have [been] incurred,” Peter Stone fails to articulate any basis for sanctions relating to 

NAA’s damages claims. Pac. Dunlop, 22 F.3d at 120. 

WITHDRAWING PREVIOUSLY DISCLOSED EXPERTS IS NOT SANCTIONABLE 

 

Peter Stone argues that NAA should be sanctioned for listing two potential expert witnesses 

in discovery and later withdrawing them. Peter Stone’s argument is specious and rests on several 

tenuous suppositions. First, Peter Stone offers no basis for its premise that once NAA disclosed 

the witnesses as potential experts and Peter Stone deposed them, NAA had an obligation to call 

them at trial. Which witnesses to call at trial is a matter of litigation strategy and it is neither 

improper nor sanctionable to decide not to call a particular witness at trial. The witnesses were 

disclosed prior to Mr. Lubin’s taking over the case. See Ex. 1, ¶17. When he did, he determined 

the litigation strategy going forward and decided that neither expert was required. 

Second, Peter Stone argues, without explanation or authority, that simply disclosing the 

witnesses was sanctionable because each had been disqualified from giving an opinion once before 

in their careers. Being disqualified in one case, however, does not forever preclude an expert from 

giving an opinion in future cases. Using a previously disqualified expert is not by itself 

sanctionable and Peter Stone fails to cite any authority that it is. 

Third, Peter Stone argues that the fact that it deposed the withdrawn witnesses and retained 
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rebuttal experts warrants imposing sanctions. Sanctions are not warranted simply because a party 

expended money during litigation. That runs counter to the American Rule.  

There is no basis for sanctions under Rule 11 as no document submitted to the court is at 

issue. Neither is there a basis under Section 1927. Peter Stone has presented no evidence to 

establish that Mr. Lubin acted with subjective bad faith for an improper purpose. Peter Stone has 

also failed to identify any excess cost incurred because of something Mr. Lubin did. The witnesses 

were disclosed and deposed before Mr. Lubin even entered the case.6 Withdrawing the witnesses 

did not result in any extra costs nor was it improper to do. Nor is there a basis for sanctioning either 

NAA or Mr. Lubin under the Court’s inherent powers. Disclosing and withdrawing witnesses is a 

normal part of litigation; as is deposing witnesses and retaining rebuttal experts. The Court should 

not award sanctions against NAA or Mr. Lubin.   

CONCLUSION 

Mr. Lubin and other attorneys came into the middle of a case. They did what they could 

with the discovery and evidence collected before they took over. They made colorable arguments 

supported by existing case law, but in the end they lost. That is not evidence of egregious conduct; 

that is litigation. Peter Stone as the party seeking sanctions bore the heavy burden of establishing 

its entitlement to them. It has failed. It presented no evidence that NAA’s arguments were frivolous 

or asserted for an improper motive. It presented no evidence that Mr. Lubin acted with subjective 

bad faith, falling fall far short of demonstrating a “serious and studied disregard for the orderly 

process of justice” as required to impose sanctions. Marco, 606 F. Supp. at 212. 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
6 One deposition, of Mr. Berger, which lasted about an hour, took place after Mr. Lubin took over as NAA’s counsel. 

The Court, however, had already granted leave to take that deposition prior to Mr. Lubin’s appearing. 
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NATIVE AMERICAN ARTS, INC. 

 

   By:  /s/ Andrew C. Murphy     

    One of its Attorneys 
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